COPY

Case No. 2001-75-01911

# Supreme Court of Mississippi

## WASHINGTON MUTUAL FINANCE GROUP, LLC,

Defendant and Appellant,

VS.

# GRETA BLACKMON, LOUISE BLUE, et al., FILED

Plaintiffs and Appellees.

NOV 2 7 2002

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

# **Appellant's Opening Brief**

Appeal from a Judgment of the Circuit Court of Holmes County, Mississippi (No. 98-0026).

The Honorable Jannie Lewis, Circuit Judge

#### OF COUNSEL:

JAN T. CHILTON
SEVERSON & WERSON
A Professional Corporation
One Embarcadero Center, 26th Floor
San Francisco, CA 94111-3600
Telephone: (415) 398-3344

JESS H. DICKINSON (MSBN
KATHARINE M. SAMSON (MSBN
JOHNNY L. NELMS (MSBN

#### ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the trial court err in submitting plaintiffs' breach of fiduciary duty claim to the jury and in denying defendant's rule 50 and 59 motions since there was no substantial evidence from which a reasonable jury could conclude that defendant owed plaintiffs a fiduciary duty?
- 2. Did the trial court err in submitting plaintiffs' fraud claim to the jury and in denying defendant's rule 50 and 59 motions as there was no substantial evidence that (a) defendant owed plaintiffs a duty of disclosure, (b) any misrepresentation or non-disclosure was material, and (c) any plaintiff reasonably relied to his or her detriment on any misrepresentation or non-disclosure?
- 3. Did the trial court err in submitting plaintiffs' claim for breach of the duty of good faith and fair dealing to the jury and in denying defendant's rule 50 and 59 motions because plaintiffs presented no evidence of any breach in defendant's performance or enforcement of their contracts, but—at most—only in the contracts' negotiation or formation, to which the duty of good faith does not apply?
- 4. Did the trial court err in submitting plaintiffs' negligence claim to the jury and in denying defendant's rule 50 and 59 motions since defendant owed plaintiffs no duty of care with respect to the conduct plaintiffs claimed was negligent?
- 5. Did the trial court err in failing to strike plaintiffs' claims regarding loan transactions consummated more than three years before the filing of the complaint since

plaintiffs presented no substantial evidence of the elements needed to invoke delayed discovery tolling?

- 6. Did the trial court err in permitting the jury to award compensatory and punitive damages against defendant for wrongs committed by Easy Finance Co. and other non-parties before they assigned plaintiffs' loans or retail installment contracts to defendant?
- 7. Must the award of compensatory damages for emotional distress be reversed because (a) there is no substantial evidence that defendant intentionally committed conduct that evokes outrage or revulsion, (b) there is no substantial evidence that plaintiffs suffered emotional harm of sufficient severity to be compensable, (c) the damage awards are excessive?
- 8. Must the punitive damage awards be reversed because (a) City did not commit conduct evincing malice, fraud or gross disregard of plaintiffs' rights, or (b) the awards are excessive?
- 9. Did the trial court err in giving the jury plaintiffs' proposed instructions P-10, P-11, P-12, and P-17?
- 10. Did the trial court err in admitting, over defendant's objection, a previously undisclosed expert opinion regarding defendant's net worth?

#### П

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is one of many mass actions recently filed against small loan companies in Mississippi. As the first to proceed to judgment and appeal, it has importance beyond the confines of this case and beyond the enormity of the \$53 million judgment entered here. It will set the trend for the dozens of similar cases already on file and many others which may be filed if this one succeeds.

#### A. Proceedings Below

On January 30, 1998, Jessie Allen and 51 other plaintiffs filed this suit against City Finance Company, alleging a wide variety of wrongs City purportedly committed in extending loans and selling credit insurance to plaintiffs in the decade from 1986 to 1996. 1 C.T. 13-33, 52, 99, 104. Later, plaintiffs filed a first amended complaint which added two causes of action. 3 C.T. 406-409. City answered denying the complaint's allegations and asserting a variety of affirmative defenses including the statute of limitations. 3 C.T. 410-420.

Five plaintiffs were dismissed voluntarily a year after the case was filed. 2 C.T. 280. The trial court later ordered 11 other plaintiffs to arbitration, based on the alternative dispute resolution agreements they had entered into with City. 4 C.T. 515-516.

City Finance Company merged with another lender; Washington Mutual Finance Group, LLC was the surviving corporation in that merger and succeeded to City's rights and liabilities. 13 R.T. 155:10-156:5. For simplicity, this brief refers to the defendant as "City" throughout, whatever its proper corporate name was at the time.

During trial, seven additional plaintiffs were voluntarily dismissed when City was unable to find any documents reflecting transactions with them. 19 R.T. 1177:10-1180:12.

In August 2000, City filed six motions for partial summary judgment. 4 & 5 C.T. 581-614. The motions sought judgment (a) on all claims arising from transactions which were entered into more than three years before the action was commenced or were entered into with other lenders or sellers and later assigned to City, 4 & 5 C.T. 581-597, (b) on several plaintiffs' claims for emotional distress based on their deposition testimony showing they had suffered no distress, 5 C.T. 598-601, (c) on plaintiffs' claim for breach of fiduciary duty, 5 C.T. 602-605, and (d) on plaintiffs' claims for improper late fees and excessive interest, 5 C.T. 606-614. In December 2000, the trial court entered its order, granting City's motions as to excessive interest and as to the emotional distress claims of six plaintiffs, and denying the motions in all other respects. 7 C.T. 982-983.

What remained of the case proceeded to a jury trial on May 29, 2001. 12 R.T. 123. During jury selection, City moved unsuccessfully to strike from the venire potential jurors who exhibited actual prejudice against small loan companies like City. City also moved unsuccessfully for a mistrial on the ground that plaintiffs had systematically and inten-

10296/0001/354744.3 - 4 -

The six plaintiffs were Carolyn Baker Hemphill, Annie Clark, Louis Blue, Doris Garrett, Debra Blackmon, and Della Robertson. 5 C.T. 697.

Potential jurors Larry Chambers and Robert Buck testified they thought small loan companies were "bad." When the trial court refused to strike these potential jurors for cause, City had to exercise two of its peremptory challenges to remove them from the jury.

tionally exercised their peremptory challenges to remove white persons from the jury on account of their race.

At the conclusion of plaintiffs' case, City moved for non-suit on many of plaintiffs' claims. 19 R.T. 1188:23 et seq. The motions were granted in part<sup>4</sup> and denied in part<sup>5</sup>. City then presented its evidence on plaintiffs' remaining claims. 20 R.T. 1288 et seq. With the trial court's permission, 22 R.T. 1524:11-20, City renewed its denied non-suit motions as motions for directed verdict after plaintiffs had presented their rebuttal

Non-suit was granted as to plaintiffs' claims of (a) excessive interest rates, 20 R.T. 1218:10-14, (b) excessive closing costs, 20 R.T., 1221:2-4, (c) padding loan amounts to be able to charge higher interest rates, 20 R.T. 1223:10-18, 1 C.T. 22 ¶66, (d) selling credit insurance to borrowers ineligible for that insurance, 20 R.T. 1224:8-23, (e) damage to credit and reputation, 20 R.T. 1228:8-1229:2, (f) physical pain and suffering, 20 R.T. 1229:16-18, (g) concealed use of the Rule of 78s, 20 R.T. 1237:1-7, (h) excessive points, 20 R.T. 1238:9-11, (i) civil conspiracy, 20 R.T. 1284:11-13, (j) wrongful collection practices, 20 R.T. 1284:24-26, and (k) discount interest, 20 R.T. 1286:10-1286:22; 1 C.T. 20 ¶55. Nonsuit was also granted on Janie Mason's emotion distress claim. 20 R.T. 1281:26-1284:10. Plaintiffs also agreed that they had presented no evidence to support their claims of asset-based lending, improper prepayment penalties, improper filing and docket fees, and setting up a secret default reserve, 20 R.T. 1219:24-25, 1221:14-16 1223:19-22, and that they did not contend credit insurance in itself was a wrongful or bad product or that the premiums charged for it were excessive, 20 R.T. 1221:17-28. Plaintiffs also withdrew their breach of contract claim. 20 R.T. 1224:24-1225:1.

Non-suit was denied as to plaintiffs' claims (a) for punitive damages, 20 R.T. 1193:7-12, (b) arising from check-in-the-mail loans, 20 R.T. 1197:8-13, (c) regarding City's affiliate's reinsurance arrangements with credit insurers, 20 R.T. 1238:12-1240:6, (d) arising from transactions consummated before January 1995, 20 R.T. 1252:17-22, 1272:27-1273:4, 1274:5-1275:2, (e) for breach of fiduciary duty, 20 R.T., 1253:5-1255:12, 1271:12-16, 1273:12-14, 1275:3-23, (f) for emotional distress on behalf of all plaintiffs other than Patrishane Gordon, Kenneth Hill, Janie Mason, Mattie Miles, and Zenester Moore, 20 R.T., 1252:23-1253:4, 1270:29-1271:4, 1273:5-11, 1278:22-1284:10, 22 R.T. 1534:3-11, 1535:9-22, (g) for "flipping," 20 R.T. 1260:15-19, 1272:6-13, 1273:15-25, 1275:24-1276:28, (h) for "packing," 20 R.T. 1261:17-19, 1272:14-20, (Fn. cont'd)

evidence, 22 R.T. 1531:26-1534:1. The directed verdict motions were denied. 22 R.T. 1536:10-11.

The day the case was submitted to the jury on liability and compensatory damages, a plaintiff said to juror Martha Jo Killebrew, as she walked into court, "all we want is money" and "don't forget about us." 22 R.T. 1613:18-1614:17. Plaintiffs moved to have Ms. Killebrew dismissed as a juror. 22 R.T. 1619:28-1620:4. Defendant moved for a mistrial. 22 R.T. 1621:15-1622:8. The trial judge then examined each juror in chambers with no parties present. 22 & 23 R.T. 1626-1643. Thereafter, the trial court denied both the motion to remove Ms. Killebrew and the mistrial motion, finding that, despite the inappropriate remarks made to her, Ms. Killebrew could be fair and render a fair decision, and that none of the other jurors had heard any similar remarks. 23 R.T. 1644:3-27, 1646:15-1647:10.

The jury was then instructed, closing arguments were presented, and the case was submitted to the jury on liability and compensatory damages. 23 R.T. 1647-1734. By a vote of 10 to 2, the jury returned verdicts in favor of each plaintiff and against City, awarding compensatory damages in the amounts indicated in Appendix 1. 23 R.T. 1735:11-1738:4, 1738:23-1739:26; 9 C.T. 1320-1327.

The trial court then heard argument and ruled that sufficient evidence had been introduced to permit submission of plaintiffs' punitive damage claims to the jury. 23 R.T.

<sup>(</sup>Fn. cont'd)

<sup>1273:26-1274:4, 1277:6-29, 1287:9-14, (</sup>i) for negligence, fraud and negligent misrepresentation, 20 R.T. 1284:14-20.

1743:13-29. Argument and evidence were then presented on those claims. 23 R.T. 1758 et seq. Over City's objection that her opinion had not properly been disclosed before trial, 23 R.T. 1744:5-1746:25, 1749:25-1750:8, 24 R.T. 1799:25-1800:9, plaintiff's expert, Glenda Glover, was permitted to testify regarding City's net worth, 23 R.T. 1753:15-24, 1783:3-1784:4, 24 R.T. 1795:17-1796:27, 1800:17-18, and the exhibits supporting her testimony were admitted in evidence, 24 R.T. 1800:20-1801:16. Following renewed instructions and closing argument, the case was resubmitted to the jury on plaintiffs' punitive damage claims. 24 R.T. 1813:29-1814:12. By a vote of 10 to 2, the jury returned verdicts awarding each plaintiff \$3 million in punitive damages against City. 24 R.T. 1814:20-1817:15; 10 C.T. 1347-1352.

On June 12, 2001, judgment was entered in plaintiffs' favor based on the jury's verdicts. 10 C.T. 1353-1354. On June 22, 2001, City filed its motion for judgment not-withstanding the verdict or, in the alternative, for a new trial or to alter or amend judgment. 10 C.T. 1355-1392. On November 1, 2001, the trial court entered its order denying City's JNOV and new trial motions, and granting its motion to alter judgment in a single respect; namely, reducing the compensatory and punitive damage awards to the six plaintiffs who presented no proof of emotional distress damages. 11 C.T. 1549-1550. On November 5, 2001, plaintiffs accepted the trial court's reduction of those damage awards. 11 C.T. 1551-1554.

The six were Doris Garrett, Patrishane Gordon, Kenneth Hill, Janie Mason, Mattie Miles, and Zenester Moore. 11 C.T. 1550. Appendix 1 lists the original and reduced compensatory and punitive damages awards for each of these plaintiffs.

On November 29, 2001, City filed its notice of appeal from the judgment and the order on its post-trial motions. 11 C.T. 1571-1573.

#### B. Statement Of Facts

Despite the lengthy record, this case is really quite simple. Plaintiffs claim damage from only two allegedly wrongful practices that they pejoratively dub "flipping" and "packing"—that is, refinancing rather than extending a second loan when a borrower wants another advance or to cure a delinquency, and selling plaintiffs credit insurance they now say they did not need and were not orally told was optional.

Plaintiffs claims rest largely on their supposed recollections and testimony about the 5-10 minute loan closings that occurred as much as a decade ago. Their testimony that they were not informed of important information about their loans and credit insurance was contradicted by the loan documents they signed as well as the testimony of City's branch manager—a woman who closed similar loans every day for decades and who testified the key terms of the loan and credit insurance, including the type(s) of insurance purchased and its optional nature, were always discussed with borrowers at loan closings. 15 R.T. 506:25-507:23.

Unable to present the evidence needed to their packing and flipping claims, plain-tiffs spent much of the lengthy trial decrying City's other practices and asserted failings—none of which, even in plaintiffs' own estimation, caused them any harm. As they caused no injury, none of those other practices or alleged failings are relevant to damages assessed or to this appeal.

To shorten the brief and avoid distraction, the following section summarizes only the evidence relevant to plaintiffs' claims about refinancing and credit insurance. Also, only one plaintiff's evidence regarding those claims is described in detail. Significant facts about the other plaintiffs' claims are presented in chart form in Appendix 1, and a summary of the irrelevant evidence about other practices is set forth in Appendix 3.

#### 1. Glenda Chambers' Relevant Evidence

Ms. Chambers is 39 years old and a high school graduate. 16 R.T. 620:25-621:14. She worked hard to support her four children and a niece. 16 R.T. 621:20-622:17, 624:13-626:14, 629:20-630:21. She has borrowed from three other small loan companies. Having been through the loan process several times, she is familiar with how it works. 16 R.T. 658:14-28.

Ms. Chambers bought a car on credit from Ruston Auto. Her contract was assigned to City. She paid it off. 16 R.T. 636:2-9, 641:11-19. Later, City sent her a "check in the mail" which she cashed and successfully repaid. 16 R.T. 636:8-13, 638:25-640:1, 641:14-23; 2 C.T. Ex. 208.

In 1995, City sent Ms. Chambers a second "check in the mail" which she also cashed. 16 R.T. 640:2-641:7; 2 C.T. Ex. 196. In 1997, she fell delinquent in repaying that debt. 16 R.T. 628:11-629:10, 636:14-24, 641:11-23. After receiving several collection calls from City, 16 R.T. 630:25-631:4, 636:14-637:8, 644:16-645:1, Ms. Chambers

contacted City's branch manager, Dolly Andrews, about lowering her payments. 16 R.T. 631:5-12. Other than the collection calls, this was the first time Ms. Chambers had spoken with City's employees. 16 R.T. 641:8-23.

Ms. Andrews was "real nice" and said it would be best if Ms. Chambers refinanced her loan. A refinance loan would bring her existing debt to City current, not adversely affect her credit rating, and lower her payments somewhat. 16 R.T. 631:5-12, 637:9-23, 643:1-21. The refinance loan also increased the total amount Ms. Chambers owed City. That fact was apparent on the face of the loan documents but was not discussed orally. 16 R.T. 649:14-26; 2 C.T. Ex. 185, 187.

As an accommodation to Ms. Chambers, who did not wish to be away from work for long, Ms. Andrews kept the loan closing brief. 16 R.T. 631:13-632:1, 632:10-27, 664:27-665:2. The necessary credit information was taken by telephone<sup>9</sup> and Ms. Cham-

10296/0001/354744.3 - 10 -

By then, Ms. Chambers was so far delinquent that City's branch office had requested authority from the regional supervisor to file a collection action against her. However, the supervisor disapproved the request, writing that the branch should work to refinance the debt instead. 13 R.T. 264:14-266:1; 2 C.T. Ex. 199.

As Ms. Chambers admitted, the refinance loan did exactly what Ms. Andrews said it would: it brought Ms. Chambers' debt current, restored her credit rating, lowered her payments, though only slightly, and even gave \$100 or so in cash. 16 R.T. 660:13-661:14. Moreover, though the refinance loan increased her outstanding balance and might, in the long run have been more expensive than a second, concurrent loan, Ms. Chambers admitted that, at the time, she could not have afforded payments on a second loan and that she had fallen so far delinquent on her existing loan she could not otherwise bring it current. 16 R.T. 637:27-638:8, 644:6-645:1, 662:4-27.

Among other things, Ms. Chambers was asked to identify personal property she pledged as collateral for the loan. R.T. 632:4-21, 646:5-21. Ms. Chambers said that, contrary to City's policy, she was not asked for her estimate of the collateral's value. Some(Fn. cont'd)

bers was called to come in only when all the documents were ready for her to sign. 16 R.T. 631:13-632:1, 632:10-27, 634:14-29, 645:29-464:6, 650:29-651:21.

When Ms. Chambers arrived to sign, Ms. Andrews reviewed the principal terms of the refinance loan with her orally, while Ms. Chambers read along on the loan documents. 16 R.T. 632:28-633:20, 633:29-634:29, 651:14-28, 675:1-15. Purporting to recall the rushed loan closing four years later, Ms. Chambers said she noted that the loan documents showed she was buying credit life insurance, though Ms. Andrews had not mentioned that fact. 10 16 R.T. 634:14-29, 653:16-24, 664:22-665:2, 672:26-672:10.

Ms. Chambers admitted she did not read her loan documents' clear disclosures that credit life insurance was optional. 16 R.T. 670:4-18. Her Federal Disclosure Statement, for example, said:

Credit Life Insurance and Credit Disability insurance are not required to obtain credit, and will not be provided unless you sign and agree to pay the additional cost.

16 R.T. 669:21-670:3; 2 C.T. Ex. 187.

<sup>(</sup>Fn. cont'd)

one else had supplied those inaccurate figures. R.T. 646:22-647:4. Ms. Chambers did not purchase credit property insurance, however. See n. 11 below.

As already mentioned, Ms. Andrews testified she always mentioned the type(s) of insurance purchased in reviewing key loan terms with a borrower at the loan closing. 15 R.T. 506:25-507:23. At the time, Ms. Chambers had her own \$5,000 or \$10,000 life insurance policy, but she said she was not asked about it, and she did not volunteer that information. 16 R.T. 635:13-636:1, 649:27-650:15, 656:24-657:19, 671:27-672:12. Ms. Andrews did ask if Ms. Chambers had homeowners insurance; Ms. Chambers said she did. 12 R.T. 672:4-12.

The same document also stated: "Neither Creditor nor Insurer is your broker, agent, or fiduciary for obtaining insurance. You understand that the Creditor and its insurance affiliate anticipate profits from the sale of credit insurance." 16 R.T. 669:1-16; 2 C.T. Ex. 187. Ms. Chambers said she read neither of these disclosures. 16 R.T. 670:4-14.

Instead, Ms. Chambers simply assumed she had to buy credit life insurance because she had not been asked whether she wanted it and because Ms. Andrews said nothing about it. 11 16 R.T. 649:27-650:15, 653:16-24, 673:5-15. Ms. Chambers asked no question about the insurance, though she said she would not have bought it if given the choice. 16 R.T. 685:12-20.

Nor did Ms. Chambers read the other loan documents she signed—either at the closing or later, though she was given copies to take home. <sup>12</sup> 16 R.T. 633:15-16, 634:14-29, 650:22-28. She did not, she said, because she was in a hurry, trusted Ms. Andrews and figured that she had explained everything Ms. Chambers really needed to know. 16 R.T. 634:14-29, 651:29-652:17.

At the time she got her refinance loan, Ms. Chambers felt "real good" about it because it brought her current and stopped the collection calls. 16 R.T. 652:18-653:5. The refinance loan got Ms. Chambers "caught back up" so she did not have to worry

City did *not* sell Ms. Chambers credit disability insurance or property insurance on her collateral. 16 R.T. 647:14-18, 665:17-21, 671:20-26, 673:16-24; 2 C.T. Ex. 186, 187.

City did not prevent Ms. Chambers from reading the loan documents or insist that she do so. 16 R.T. 666:6-14, 670:4-14.

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