CASE NO. 2001-TS-01911

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

WASHINGTON MUTUAL FINANCE GROUP, LLC Appellant – Defendant,

vs.

GRETA BLACKMON, LOUISE BLUE, ET AL. Appellees – Plaintiffs.

On Appeal from a Judgment of the Circuit Court of Holmes County, Mississippi (No. 98-0026), The Honorable Jannie Lewis, Circuit Judge

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or the Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

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

[The amount of the award should account for the insurer's financial worth. Juries are asked not to go so far as to bankrupt a defendant, but

¹²⁴One of the amicus briefs erroneously contends that net worth is not a legitimate factor of consideration and creatively argues that Plaintiffs seek to "increase" the award based upon Washington Mutual's net worth. [Consumer Credit Ins. Ass'n Br. at 14]. As implicitly recognized by this Court in *Hollins*, net worth is not a factor to *increase* a punitive damage award but rather a factor to *determine* what sort of award is required to punish and deter a defendant. *Hollins*, 230 So.2d at 1243 (Miss. 2002)(emphasis added).

to make sure that it renders a decision that will cause the defendant to think before engaging in the same intolerable conduct. The measure of punitive damages, therefore, is not relative to actual damages, but rather, to the defendant's worth.

Id. at 1243 (emphasis added).

Dr. Glover testified that the net worth of Washington Mutual was \$414,668,423.00. [23 RT 1783:13-15]. Dr. Glover further testified that she determined Washington Mutual's net worth to be \$414 million dollars using the lowest and most conservative evaluation technique. [23 RT 1783:16-29]. Had Dr. Glover used the equally accepted market value approach (rather than book value) the net worth of Washington Mutual was likely to be higher. [23 RT 1783:23-29]. The fact that Plaintiff used a conservative valuation of Washington Mutual's net worth is supported by the fact that Defendant offered no evidence of its own net worth. Had Plaintiff's net worth valuation been high, Defendant surely would have introduced contrary testimony. In any case, Dr. Glover's testimony as to the net worth of Washington Mutual is undisputed.

Other courts have noted that net worth is subject to easy manipulation. *Lara v. Madag.*, 13 Cal.App.4th 1061, 1064-65 (Cal App. 2 Dist. 1993). Also undisputed is the fact that Washington Mutual drained the assets of the Company in anticipation of trial. Dr. Glover testified that Washington Mutual's financial statements indicated a net worth of \$382 million in 1998. [23 RT 1780:26-1781:2]. That amount would normally be expected to grow each year as new earnings are added. [23 RT 1781:9-22]. Yet, Washington Mutual managed to shrink its net worth by plundering over 60% of the Company's (nearly \$250 million) earnings through unexplained transfers to its affiliates. [23 RT 1782:23-26; 1783:3-12]. From that evidence, the jury may well have inferred Washington Mutual's net worth was greater than what Glover was able to determine from its financial statements.

Washington Mutual also fails to show that it will be bankrupted or even hindered by the punitive damage award entered in this case. *In Devlin v. Kearny Mesa AMC/Jeep/Renault, Inc.*, 155 Cal.App.3d 381, 391 (Cal.App. 4Dist., 1984), the court affirmed a punitive damages award against a corporate car dealer for over seventeen percent (17.5%) of the dealer's net worth. Despite the fact that this fraction exceeded the net worth percentages commonly found, the court affirmed the award noting "[t]here is nothing in the financial data presented which suggests the award will unduly interfere with or hamper [the dealers] future operations." *Id.* The same analysis is proper in this case.

Courts commonly cite ten percent (10%) or less of a defendants' net worth as an indicator of reasonable. *See e.g., Storage Services v. Oosterbaan*, 214 Cal.App.3d 498, 515 (Cal.App. 1. Dist., 1989); *Weeks v. Baker & McKenzie*, 63 Cal.App.4th 1128, (Cal.App. 4th 1998). Yet, "case law has not established any specific numerical percentage of net worth as constituting the upper permissible limit for the amount of a punitive damages award. *Vallbona v. Springer*, 43 Cal.App.4th 1525, 1537 (Cal. App. 1996). While Washington Mutual would like to make ten percent an automatic sign of excessiveness, courts have expressly cautioned otherwise. Instead, each case must be decided on its own facts, considering all three factors and various indicators of wealth. *Andrew Jackson Life Ins. Co. v. Williams*, 566 So.2d 1172 (Miss. 1990). The fundamental guiding principle is that punitive damages must not be so large that they destroy the defendant. *Rufo v. Simpson*, 86 Cal.App.4th 573 (Cal.App. 2 Dist. 2001).

Each Plaintiffs' punitive damage award is less than one-percent of Washington Mutual's net worth. Collectively, the \$51 million punitive damage award represents approximately 12% of Washington Mutual's net worth. As such, the individual awards are well under accepted ratios while the collective figure only slightly exceeds the commonly referenced percentage. Moreover, the minor increase is justified based on the reprehensibility of Washington Mutual's conduct, the evidence Washington Mutual attempted to manipulate its net worth, and the need for a punitive damage award that will be felt by Washington Mutual. Awards representing larger percentages of a defendant's net worth have been affirmed in other cases. *E.g., Vallbona*, 43 Cal.App.4th at 1537 (affirming punitive damage award representing 23.1 percent of defendants' net worth).

While this Court has previously affirmed a punitive damage award totaling 5.25% of the defendant's net worth; it is important to note that this Court held only that the punitive damage award was reasonable. This Court did not hold that anything higher would be excessive. *Williams*, 566 So.2d at 1191. Accordingly, when all the facts of Washington Mutual's net worth are considered, the jury's punitive damage award is not excessive and the trial courts rulings in regard thereto should be affirmed.

7. The relationship between the penalty and the harm to victims favors a finding that the punitive damage awards were reasonable.

The relationship between the harm to the Plaintiffs and the size of the punitive damage award is a factor that may be considered under Mississippi statutory law and federal law. While the ratio of compensatory damages to punitive damages may indicate that the latter award is reasonable; there is no simple mathematical formula to validate or invalidate an award. Indeed, several circumstances have been held to justify a higher than normal ratio of compensatory to punitive damages. For example: a higher ratio is appropriate in cases where the compensatory damages are low. *Paracelsus Health Care Corp. v. Willard*, 754 So.2d 437, 445. (Miss. 1990), *cert denied*, 530 US 1215 (2002). Likewise, a higher ratio may be appropriate if a particularly egregious act produces only a small amount of economic damages. A higher ratio may also be justified in cases in which the injury is hard to detect. *Id.* A higher ratio may be proper if the monetary value of noneconomic harm is difficult to determine. *Id.; Grimes*, 722 So.2d at 647.

Inexplicably, Washington Mutual contends that the ratio of punitive damages to compensatory damages in this case "are well above anything the United States Supreme Court has ever approved." [Appellants' Br. p. 75]. Not so. The United States Supreme Court has implicitly approved a punitive damage award that was 150 times the amount of compensatory damages. *Paracelsus Health Care Corp.*, 754 So.2d at 445. The ratio of punitive damages to compensatory damages in this case are as low as 12 to 1 for two of the plaintiffs. Fourteen additional plaintiffs had ratios no higher than 40 to 1. Indeed, with the exception of the six plaintiffs who voluntarily accepted significant remittiturs to their compensatory damage awards,²⁵ only one plaintiff had a ratio exceeding 40 to 1.

The remaining six plaintiffs voluntarily accepted a remittitur of their compensatory damages to amounts ranging from \$22 to \$437 and punitive damage awards at 250 times their actual damages. [11 CT 1551-52].

The ratio of punitive damages to compensatory damages in this case are well within ranges previously determined to be reasonable by Mississippi Courts. In *Paracelsus*, the Mississippi Supreme Court has approved a punitive damage award that was 150 times the amount of compensatory damages. *Paracelsus Health Care Corp.*, 754 So.2d at 445. In the same case, the Court also approved a separate punitive damage award that was 43 times the amount of the compensatory damage award. *Id.* In fact, this Court affirmed an award of punitive damages that exceeded the compensatory damage award by 600 times in *Independent Life & Accident Ins. Co. v. Peavy*, 528 So.2d 1112, 1120 (Miss. 1988). That Washington Mutual ignores this precedent to declare a bright line constitutional maximum ratio of 10 to 1 simply does not make it so. [Appellants Br. p. 76].

Mississippi courts have also affirmed punitive damage awards involving ratios significantly higher than those at issue here. In the most recent case involving allegations of excessive punitive damages decided by the Mississippi Supreme Court, this Court upheld a jury verdict awarding \$400 in compensatory damages and \$100,000.00 in punitive damages. *Hollins*, 230 So.2d at 1242-43. In so doing, this Court held that a punitive/compensatory damage ratio as high as 250 to 1 does not violate federal constitutional protections. *Id.* In *Stewart v. Gulf Guar.*, this court reinstated a punitive damage award that was 142 times the amount of actual damages. 2002 WL 1874826. In addition, there are several other Mississippi cases affirming awards punitive damage awards significantly larger than the actual damages. In *Grimes*, the Court upheld a punitive damage award of \$1,250,000 when the compensatory award was \$1,900, in spite of the insurer's arguable basis for denying the claim. *Grimes*, 722 So.2d at 640(approving a ratio of 657 to 1). In

Peavy, the Court affirmed a punitive damage award of \$250,000 when the compensatory damages were \$412.20 because insurer's agent induced the insured to refrain from timely filing a claim. *Peavy*, 528 So.2d 1120(approving a ratio of 606 to 1). And in *Nat'l Life & Acc. Ins. Co. v. Miller*, the Court upheld a punitive award of \$350,000 and actual damages of \$2,500, where an agent did not disclose on the policy application information given to him by an insured. *Nat'l Life & Acc. Ins. Co. v. Miller*, *Co. v. Miller*, 484 So.2d 329, 338 (Miss.1985)(approving a ratio of 140 to 1).

The ratio of punitive damages for each and every Plaintiff in the present case is less than that approved by the Mississippi Supreme Court in *Stuart, Hollins, Grimes, Peavy* and the United States Supreme Court in *Paracelsus* and *Peavy*. Accordingly, the ratio of damage awards favors a finding of reasonableness.

8. The sanctions imposed in comparable cases favor a finding that the punitive damage awards in this case are reasonable.

Washington Mutual reliance on a variety of monetary sanction provided by the Mississippi Legislature to govern a range of conduct – much of which is significantly less egregious than the conduct at issue in this case – is misplaced. Those statutory penalties in no way limit Washington Mutual's civil liability. Even Washington Mutual acknowledges, as it must, that the primary relevance of such penalties is to afford notice of potential liability. Here, there can be no dispute that Washington Mutual had knowledge of its own potential liability as (1) its own arbitration agreements contemplated large awards and (2) its actions in stripping the Company of its assets reveal its awareness that a meaningful damage award was likely.

Washington Mutual feigns surprise at the size of the punitive damage award and claims to lack notice that it could be held liable for its conduct in such an amount. [Appellants Br. pp. 76-78]. That is not true. Washington Mutual's own arbitration agreement contemplates substantial punitive damages saying:

If applicable law permits the award of punitive damages and the Arbitrator authorizes such an award, the parties acknowledge and agree that any punitive damages awarded to either Lender or Borrower shall not exceed the greater of \$250,000 or ten (10) times the actual damages awarded by the Arbitrator.

[4 CT 469]. The fact that Washington Mutual *limited* its damages to ten (10) times the actual damages when in excess of \$250,000.00 demonstrates their expectation of an even *greater* punitive damage award. [4 CT 469]. Similarly, Washington Mutual's undisputed plundering of Company assets is an implicit admission by the Company that its understood its conduct was likely to subject it to significant liability. Having acknowledged that its liability was likely to be significant, Washington Mutual cannot now claim it had no notice that its conduct could subject it to a meaningful financial penalty.

Furthermore, the sanctions cited by Washington Mutual are intended to cover a range of conduct much less predatory and injurious than Defendant's actions and omissions here. When considering conduct similar to the conduct in this case, the liability has been much greater. Household Finance recently agreed to settle claims against it for deceptive lending practices for \$484 million dollars. *Granholm v. Household International, Inc.*, Consent Judgment, No. 02-1969-CH (Michigan Circuit Court, 30th Judicial District, December 16, 2002). Citigroup Inc. agreed to repay customers \$215 million to settle federal charges that First Family and its parent, the Associates, manipulated people into buying credit insurance and other products. In the face of such high-profile FTC investigations and multi-million dollar settlements of cases involving similar conduct, it is clear that predatory lending practices akin to those of Washington Mutual are viewed as unacceptable

Finally, the existence of other penalties may reveal whether lesser sanctions could achieve the goal of deterring the defendant's wrongful conduct. Here, the evidence does not support a finding that lesser penalties could have deterred Washington Mutual's wrongful conduct. As previously discussed, Washington Mutual knew how to do what is right. Shelton admitted as much. Yet, it failed to investigate what it admits were "red flags" of wrongful conduct in its Greenwood Branch. Washington Mutual did not investigate Plaintiffs' allegations prior to trial, and Washington Mutual did not even inquire about (or report on) the proceedings in the trial of this matter. [See Argument at III. F]. There is no basis for concluding a lesser penalty might have caused Washington Mutual to take heed, where violations of its own policies, multiple claims filed against it, and even a trial seeking punitive damages could not divert the company's attention from the profits available through deceptive conduct..

I. The Trial Court Fully and Fairly Charged the Jury.

1. Washington Mutual's objections are untimely.

Washington Mutual failed to preserve for appeal the challenges to the jury instructions it now seeks to raise. Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 51(b)(3) provides that all objections to jury instructions must be stated into the record and note distinctly the matter to which objection is made and the grounds for the objection. *See* MISS.R.CIV.P. 51(b)(3)(West 2003). Likewise, under the Uniform Court Practice Rules, attorneys must dictate into the record their

specific objections to the proposed instructions, stating the grounds for each objection. MISS.UNIF.CIR.CT.RULES, RULE 3.07. Accordingly, objections to instructions cannot be raised for the first time in an appellate court. *Shelton v. State*, 445 So.2d 844, 846 (Miss. 1984).

At trial, Judge Lewis thoroughly reviewed the proposed jury instructions and modified, granted and/or denied instructions submitted by both Washington Mutual and Plaintiffs. [11 RT 1536-1613]. Because Washington Mutual did not object generally or specifically that the instructions granted included improper comments upon the weight of the evidence or material conflicts that would confuse the jury (the "two separate reasons" delineated on appeal), Washington Mutual's present assertion that the trial court committed prejudicial procedural errors is untimely.⁷²⁶ [11 RT 1536-1613].

2. This Court should afford great weight to the instructions below, reviewing the challenged instructions in light of all other instructions given.

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